B. ARGUMENT

- I. **THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT CLEARLY ERRED BY UPHOLDING THE HCA'S IMPROPER INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF THE CERTIFICATE OF NEED GENERAL STANDARDS, WHICH WAS ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, AND NOT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW.**

West Virginia Code §16-2D-5(a) places the responsibility for administering the CON program with the HCA. *West Virginia Code* § 16-2D-5(a). Part of the HCA's responsibility in

administering the CON program includes coordinating, developing, amending and modifying the State health plan, including the CON standards, according to the law. *West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(b).

West Virginia Code §16-2D-5(b) was last modified or amended by the legislature during the 1999 Regular Session, and those modifications had an effective date of June 11, 1999. As part of the Legislative mandates contained in *West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(b), the HCA was **required** to review the State health plan, including the certificate of need standards and make any **necessary amendments and modifications**, within three (3) years from the effective date of the legislation. *West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(b) (Emphasis added). Therefore, any necessary amendments or modifications to the certificate of need standards and the State health care **must** have been made prior to June 11, 2002. This deadline for amending or modifying the CON standards and the State health plan was prior to the filing of FMI's application which is the subject of this appeal, and no modifications or amendments were made by the Legislature, the HCA or any other entity during the time specified in the statute.

It is undisputed by all parties and all witnesses, that at the time FMI filed its application for a CON, the *State Health Plan, Certificate of Need Standards* in effect, were those approved by the Governor on October 5, 1992. It is also undisputed, that the only approved standards, contain **only one** (1) specified standard pertaining to the determination of the service area for a service proposed by a diagnostic center. This standard states:

“The applicant shall delineate the service area by documenting the **expected** area around the ambulatory care facility from which the center is **expected** to draw patients. *State Health Plan, Certificate of Need Standards, Ambulatory Care Centers, §IIA.*(Emphasis added).

In the present case, in denying FMI's application, the HCA relied upon and applied a different standard to FMI's application. The standard applied by the HCA had not been, and still has not been filed with the Secretary of State's Office, has not been published in the state register, has not been reduced to writing for public comment, has not been the subject of a public hearing, has not been approved by the Governor, and is contrary to the clear standard quoted above.

West Virginia Code §16-2D-5(1)(1) sets forth the procedure the HCA **must** follow in developing certificate of need standards and/or the modification of existing or previously adopted standards. *West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(1)(1) states:

“...When the state agency proposes amendments or modifications to the certificate of need standards, it **shall** file with the secretary of state, for publication in the state register, a notice of proposed action, including the text of all proposed amendments and modifications, and a date, time and place for receipt of general public comment. To comply with the public comment **requirement** of this section, the state agency may hold a public hearing or schedule a public comment period for the receipt of written statements and documents.”*West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(1)(1) (Emphasis added).

In order to insure that the general public is informed of the standards by which CON applications are to be judged and evaluated, and to insure that the HCA does not act arbitrarily, the Legislature placed an additional requirement upon the HCA before proposed certificate of need standards become valid. *West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(1)(2) requires the HCA, after first complying with *West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(1)(1), to seek the final approval of the governor before the standard becomes valid. *West Virginia Code* §16-2D-5(1)(2) states:

“All proposed amendments and modifications to the certificate of need standards, with a record of the public hearing or written statements and documents received pursuant to a public comment period, **shall** be presented to the governor. Within thirty days of receiving the proposed amendments or modifications, the governor **shall** either approve or disapprove all or part of the amendments and

modifications,..." *Id.* (Emphasis added).

These sections of the West Virginia Code make it abundantly clear that before the HCA can create a standard or apply a standard, the HCA **must** follow the proper procedures contained in the statutes, must have the proposed standard properly reviewed, the standard must be made available to the public, the standard must be approved by the Legislature, and finally, the standard must be approved by the governor. All of these steps must be followed, before the HCA can rely upon or apply a standard to a CON application.

In ruling on the Appellants' appeal to the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, Judge H. L. Kirkpatrick, III, found:

"Admittedly, there appears to be **no express** definition contained in the Standards, or in any other regulation of what may constitute a proper service area for a new health service provider. See *Raleigh County Circuit Court Order* page 6. (Emphasis added).

Judge Kirkpatrick further stated:

"As Judge Hill points out, while the Standards **do not explicitly define** a service area for a diagnostic center, the process of determining how the service area is to be established may readily be found therein. An applicant **must** delineate, through testimony or documentation, the **expected** areas from which the diagnostic center **will** draw its patients." *Id.* (Emphasis added). See also Office of Judges Order, page 8.

However, in reviewing the Appellants' application, the HCA elected to disregard the only properly adopted standards which are applicable to diagnostic centers. The HCA, without proper authority, applied standards which were adopted for acute care facilities, and were not applicable to any other entity. This application by the HCA was clearly wrong, arbitrary, capricious and contrary to the law.

The properly adopted General Standards which are applicable to ambulatory care centers (which includes diagnostic centers), set forth the Need Methodology as follows:

“For ambulatory care centers for which no specific need methodology is set forth in Section III, below, the following general need methodology **shall** be used.” *State Health Plan, Certificate of Need Standards, Ambulatory Care Centers, §IIA.* (Emphasis added).

As pointed out by Judge Kirkpatrick’s decision, it is undisputed that at the time of FMI’s application there was no legislative, HCA, or governor adopted, **specific** need methodology applicable to diagnostic centers. Therefore, based upon the clear and unambiguous language set forth in the General Standards above, the general need methodology of the State health plan was the only applicable need methodology which should have been applied to FMI’s application for a CON. The general need methodology states:

“The applicant **shall** delineate the service area by documenting the **expected** areas around the ambulatory care facility from which the center is **expected** to draw patients.” *State Health Plan, Certificate of Need Standards, Ambulatory Care Centers, §IIA.* (Emphasis added).

Although Judge Kirkpatrick and Administrative Law Judge Hill (hereafter ALJ HILL) correctly determined that no specific need methodology was set forth in the general standards, both incorrectly proceeded to evaluate the HCA’s decision based upon an improper application of a standard that is not applicable to diagnostic centers.

The HCA, the Office of Judges and the Circuit Court of Raleigh County took the position that because there is no specific manner of determining a service area expressed in the general CON standards, that the HCA should be given great discretion and deference in determining a basis for determining the reasonableness of a service. This position is incorrect.

West Virginia Code § 29A-1-2(i) defines a "Rule" as follows:

"Rule" includes every regulation, **standard** or statement of policy or interpretation of general application and future effect, including the amendment or repeal thereof, affecting private rights, privileges or interests, or the procedures available to the public, adopted by an agency to implement, extend, apply, interpret or make specific the law enforced or administered by it or to govern its organization or procedure,..." *West Virginia Code* §29A-1-2(i) (Emphasis added).

This section further requires that

"[e]very rule shall be classified as "legislative rule," "interpretive rule" or "procedural rule," all as defined in this section, and shall be effective only as provided in this chapter." *West Virginia Code* §29A-1-2(i).

A "Legislative rule" is defined as

"...every rule, as defined in subsection (i) of this section, proposed or promulgated by an agency pursuant to this chapter. Legislative rule includes every rule which, when promulgated after or pursuant to authorization of the legislature, has (1) the force of law, or (2) supplies a basis for the imposition of civil or criminal liability, or (3) grants or denies a specific benefit." *West Virginia Code* §29A-1-2-(d).

Therefore, based upon the above definitions and the purpose of the certificate of need standards, certificate of need standards are by definition, legislative rules because they are used in granting or denying a specific benefit, such as the granting or denial of a CON.

The Legislature was very clear about the legal authority and effect legislative rules were intended to have, and limited their authority as follows:

"Unless lawfully promulgated as an emergency rule, a legislative rule is **only** a proposal by the agency and has **no legal force** or effect **until promulgated** by specific authorization of the legislature." *Id.* (Emphasis added).

Taking these sections together and applying them to the case at hand, it is clear that the only properly promulgated and adopted certificate of need standards, and therefore, the only

standards with any legal force, are those which were approved by the Governor in October 1992. It is equally clear, that the only definition of service area for ambulatory care centers found in those properly adopted standards, clearly defines a service area as “the expected areas around the ambulatory care facility from which the center is expected to draw patients”.

This Court has previously adopted the following rule when considering the weight of legislatively approved regulations:

“...[o]nce a disputed regulation is legislatively approved, it has the force of a statute itself... Being an act of the West Virginia Legislature, it is entitled to more than deference; it is entitled to controlling weight. As authorized by legislation, a legislative rule should be ignored only if the agency has exceeded its constitutional or statutory authority or is arbitrary or capricious.” *West Virginia Health Care Cost Review Authority v. Boone Memorial Hospital*, 196 W.Va. 326, 336, 472 S.E.2d 411 (1996), citing *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Department of West Virginia*, 195 W.Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995).

This Court has previously spoken on the process to be used in evaluating an agency’s positions which arise as a result of interpretation. This Court has held that deference to an agency’s view is only required, when there is a statutory gap or ambiguity. *West Virginia Health Care Cost Review Authority v. Boone Memorial Hospital*, 196 W.Va. 326, 337, 472 S.E.2d 411 (1996).

The Court went further in *HCCRA v. Boone Memorial Hospital* to state

“If the language of an enactment is clear and within the constitutional authority of the law-making body which passed it, courts **must** read the relevant law according to its unvarnished meaning, **without** judicial embroidery. *HCCRA v. Boone Memorial Hospital*, 196 W.Va. 326, at 336. (Emphasis added)

In determining whether the HCA’s position should be sustained as a proper statement of the law, the Court must apply the standards set out by the United States Supreme Court in

Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984), as cited by the Court in *HCCRA v. Boone Memorial Hospital. Supra.*

This analysis begins by first determining

“[w]hether the Legislature has directly spoken to the precise question at issue. If the intention of the Legislature is clear, that is the end of the matter, and the agency’s position only can be upheld if it conforms to the Legislature’s intent. No deference is due the agency’s interpretation at this stage.” *HCCRA v. Boone Memorial Hospital*, 196 W.Va. 326, at 337.

Based upon the ruling in *HCCRA v. Boone Memorial Hospital*, the HCA was required to give the adopted CON standards controlling weight. However, the HCA elected to ignore the legislatively approved standards, without showing that the adopted standards were arbitrary or capricious, or without showing that said standards were adopted by a process which exceeded the constitutional or statutory authority of the HCA. The failure of the HCA to give controlling weight to the adopted certificate of need standards and the general need methodology for ambulatory care centers (diagnostic centers) was an abuse of its legal power and was an arbitrary and capricious action.

In this matter, all of the parties have agreed that there is only one expression of how a service is to be determined—the area from which the applicant expects to draw patients. The HCA, by interjecting the 25/10 acute care facility standards, has failed to give the proper deference to the clearly expressed language of its own rules, regulations and standards, which have been properly promulgated and adopted. Furthermore, the HCA has improperly tried to give an interpretation of the standards, when the standards are clear and unambiguous.

Since the October 5, 1992 standards are the only standards or rules which have been properly proposed and lawfully promulgated, they are the only standards which should have been

applied to FMI's application. Furthermore, since the Legislature and the HCA have directly spoken on the issue of the applicability of the standards, no interpretation is proper under the directives of *Chevron* and *HCCRA v. Boone Memorial Hospital*. Therefore, the HCA's interpretation was an improper application of the law, was an abuse of the HCA's authority, was clearly wrong, and should have been reversed by the Circuit Court.

The HCA would have the Court accept the position that since the standards for acute care facilities do not expressly limit the application of the 25/10 acute care facility standards to **only** acute care facilities, that the HCA is free to adopt and apply the reasoning behind those standards to other entities, under the guise of interpretation. However, this position contradicts the clear intent and language of the properly adopted standards, which clearly state

"For ambulatory care centers for which **no specific need methodology** is set forth in Section III below, the following general need methodology **shall** be used. *State Health Plan, General Standards, Need Methodology*, page 4. (Emphasis added).

Here, the language chosen to be included in the standards, clearly uses the mandatory directive **shall** when indicating which standards are to be used. This standard does not give the HCA or any other entity reviewing the CON process the right to use any other methodology, nor does it give the HCA the right to supplement, interpret or expand the application of other entity standards to ambulatory care centers. The HCA is required to use **only** those general standards specifically adopted and approved for ambulatory care centers, and can not substitute standards applicable to acute care facilities or any other facility under the guise of interpretation. The actions of the HCA therefore violated the clearly expressed standards, and the ruling in *Chevron*, by using interpretation to substitute or adopted a rule which is contrary to the plain language of

the properly adopted standard which clearly speaks to the issue.

The HCA's use of a standard which had not been properly promulgated or properly adopted, based upon a theory that since the standard did not expressly restrict the application of the acute care facility standards, it could be applied to other entities without specific guidelines, is inconsistent with previous rulings of this Court. In footnote 6, of *Chico Dairy Company v. Human Rights Commission* previously cited, this Court held:

"...silence or inaction of the legislature with respect to a proposed legislative rule is **not** to be deemed an approval thereof but, instead, a disapproval thereof by virtue of *W. Va. Code*, 29A-3-12(b) [1982, 1986]." *Chico Dairy Company v. Human Rights Commission*, 382 S.E.2d 75, at 82.

Since the Court has held that Legislative inaction or silence is disapproval of a proposed rule, it is consistent that the failure to make the 25/10 acute care facility, standards applicable to other entities, and the failure to amend, modify, or create a new standard which puts quantitative requirements on diagnostic centers, should be viewed as the disapproval of any action which attempts to amend or modify the standards which have been properly promulgated and adopted. To allow an agency to use "interpretations" to avoid the possible disapproval or rejection of a standard, would allow an agency to circumvent the requirements of general public comment, legislative approval and the governor's approval, before a rule or standard becomes applicable and has legal effect.

Having recognized the only adopted standard, both Judge Kirkpatrick and ALJ Hill, incorrectly accepted the HCA's application of the acute care facility standards to FMI's application. In accepting the HCA's use of the acute care facility standards, both Judge Kirkpatrick and ALJ Hill improperly allowed the HCA to improperly modify the general standards

to include a requirement that FMI serve a significant percentage of the population of the proposed service area, before the area could be properly included. The general standards approved by the governor on October 5, 1992, do not set forth this requirement and clearly and unambiguously state

“...The applicant **may** submit **testimony or documentation** on the **expected** service area.” *State Health Plan, General Standards §II, A. Need Methodology*, page 4. (Emphasis added).

The HCA, ALJ Hill and Judge Kirkpatrick incorrectly held that FMI was **required** to submit testimony and/or documentation to show FMI would serve a significant percentage of the proposed service area’s population. Both ALJ Hill and Judge Kirkpatrick used the term **must** in describing FMI’s obligation to justify its proposed service area. This was the wrong standard.

Furthermore, it appears that the HCA, ALJ Hill and Judge Kirkpatrick all ignored or overlooked the Appellants’ application and the testimony of Gary L. Poling on how the service area was determined. Both of these sources indicated that the parties selected the proposed service area, not based solely upon expectation, but based upon the fact that both Dr. Lostetter and Dr. Poling were already drawing patients from the proposed service area.

No where in the properly adopted standards applicable to diagnostic centers, is there a requirement that a certain statistical percentage of the population be served, before an area can be included in the proposed service area of a diagnostic center. The heightened level of proof required by the HCA therefore, conflicts with the express language of the adopted standards, and arbitrarily increased the requirements for a CON for a diagnostic center beyond those properly approved through the legislative process.

The evidence clearly shows that FMI **expects** to draw patients from all of those counties

included in the proposed service based upon their actual service of patients from those areas. Since **expectation** is the only requirement contained in the applicable standards, **actual service** should be more than adequate proof that patients are expected to be drawn from those areas. The uncontradicted testimony of Dr. Gary Poling and the statements contained in the application are a proper form of evidence to support the proposed service area.

It is clear, that the decisions of the HCA, the Office of Judges, and the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia, hinged on the HCA's application of the 25/10 acute care facility standards, which are not in the certificate of need standards for diagnostic centers. This misapplication of the standards by the HCA was an improper amendment of the certificate of need standards to contain a quantitative threshold on the number of patients an applicant must expect to serve from a proposed service area, before the area may be included in the proposed service area. This quantitative threshold has never been subjected to public comment, nor has it been adopted by the legislature or the governor, and therefore should have no legal force and was therefore, an arbitrary application of the standards by the HCA, which is contrary to adopted law.

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