IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

32565  
No. 042422

FAMILY MEDICAL IMAGING, LLC,  
GARY L. POLING, D.O. and  
SCOTT C. LOSTETTER, D.O.

Appellants,

Circuit Court of Raleigh County  
Civil Action No. 04-AA-15-K

v.

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### **A. The Appellants failed to demonstrate that the project was needed and the Authority acted within its discretion in evaluating the reasonableness of Family Medical Imaging’s service area.**

The Authority has been charged by the Legislature with oversight of the CON program. W.Va. Code § 16-2D-5. In addition, the Authority has power to promulgate legislative rules and to develop and amend the State Health Plan. Id. Thus, the Authority has been recognized by the Legislature as an agency with expertise in the area of the CON laws, regulations and the State Health Plan. This Court has previously held that the Authority’s determination of matters within its area of expertise is entitled to substantial weight. Princeton Community Hospital, 328 S.E.2d at 171. In addition, this

Court has held that “[a]n agency’s interpretation of a statutory provision or regulation that it is charged with administering is entitled to a high degree of deference.” Boone, 472 S.E.2d at 420. In rendering its decision, the Authority reviewed the matter pursuant to the Ambulatory Care Standards, referenced above, and determined that FMI failed to submit sufficient evidence establishing that its project was needed and that it was not consistent with the language of the Ambulatory Care Standards.

The burden to establish a justifiable service area clearly rests on FMI. See, CON Application at Section E; Ambulatory Care Standards, II.A. The Authority, which has been charged by the Legislature with oversight of the CON program, is within its discretion to test the reasonableness of the information submitted. The Authority determined that FMI did not meet its burden under the Ambulatory Care Standards to justify its large service area and that this overstated service area skewed, in its favor, all of its need calculations. The Authority acted well within its discretion in making this determination since part of its essential core function is to evaluate and render decisions on CON applications.

FMI contends that the Authority ignored the service area definition set forth in the Ambulatory Care Standards and rather held it to a 25/10 service area. It further argues that the 25/10 service area that the Authority used in this case was not properly promulgated and is, in fact, contrary to the more general, plain language of the Ambulatory Care Standards. This argument fundamentally mischaracterizes the Authority’s actions.

The Authority did not create a new standard or policy to evaluate this case, rather the Authority evaluated FMI's application under the language of the Ambulatory Care Standards, which were promulgated in 1992 as FMI concedes, which provide that an applicant must "demonstrate, with specificity, that there is an unmet need" and must do this by "documenting the area around the ambulatory care facility from which the center is expected to draw patients." Ambulatory Care Standards, II.A.

Contrary to FMI's assertions, this language does not give FMI unfettered discretion to select any service area that it wants; otherwise every applicant would submit the entire state as its service area. Rather, an applicant must document the area from which it expects to draw patients. The Authority found that it was not reasonable for FMI to expect to draw patients from such a large service area when other providers for the same services currently exist and FMI has no on-going relationship with either the potential patient or the referring physician.

FMI attempts to mischaracterize the Authority's discretion to critically evaluate applications, under the language cited above, as somehow altering the legal standard that it must meet in order to be approved for a CON. However, this is simply not the case. The Authority is entitled and, in fact, must critically evaluate CON applications in order to determine if they merit approval. If the Court were to accept FMI's argument, it would deprive the Authority of discretion to critically evaluate CON applications and eviscerate the Authority's legislatively conferred powers. Essentially, adopting FMI's argument would allow applicants to project need without restriction in all cases before the Authority where no specific service area is defined. The Authority could only rubber

stamp such applications and not delve any deeper or perform any analysis. This was clearly not the intent of the Legislature when it empowered the Authority to administer the CON program and it was likewise not the intent of the Authority to allow unmet need to be manipulated under the Ambulatory Care Standards, as FMI did in this case.

It is essential that the Authority has discretion to critically evaluate applications or the entire mission of the Authority is in jeopardy. The Authority was created, in part, to help restrain the costs of health care. This is accomplished, in part, by not allowing the duplication of services in a service area. If the Authority were deprived of the ability to critically evaluate applications, it would become a rubber stamp approving anything that is filed. This would result in skyrocketing health care costs and would not benefit the health care consumers that the Authority is charged with protecting.

The importance of recognizing the Authority's discretion to critically evaluate applications is highlighted by a review of the facts of this case. FMI set forth a six county service area. The only justification for this large service area, in the application, was the assertion that "there are many rural areas that do not have ultrasound services available to them on a local level and it [FMI] will serve all surrounding areas as well as the local population." This service area is not reasonable for several reasons.

First, in evaluating the service area, the Authority considers the type of service being offered. Here, FMI is proposing offering diagnostic imaging services to not only its own patients, but also to treat patients on a referral basis. This distinction is important because when accepting referrals, a physician will be providing services to patients not currently being treated by his or her office practice. In this case, FMI did

not demonstrate why patients, who are currently not being treated by either practice, and in some cases are actually located closer to existing providers, would seek out its services for treatment. In addition, there is simply no evidence, of record, indicating that physicians in Nicholas, Summers and Wyoming Counties will send their patients to FMI to receive treatment. Indeed, FMI had the opportunity to submit letters from physicians in these areas indicating their support of this project and it failed to do so. Additionally, the financial information submitted indicates that no advertising will take place. This would make it even more difficult for physicians and their respective patients in Nicholas, Summers and Wyoming Counties to even be aware that FMI is offering ultrasound services.

Second, it is clear from a review of the hearing testimony, that the existing office practices of Dr. Poling and Dr. Lostetter treat a statistically insignificant number of patients from Nicholas and Summers Counties to reasonably include these counties in the service area. For example, in the hearing, Dr. Poling testified that he only served "two families" from McDowell County and "several families" from Nicholas County. Hearing Transcript at p. 19. In 2002, the population of McDowell County was 25,752 and the population of Nicholas County was 26,479. Therefore, it is unreasonable for the applicant to assume that the entire population of these counties will travel, in some cases great distances, and forgo treatment by closer existing providers to receive treatment from FMI.

However, despite the fact that FMI had no reasonable basis to expect to draw patients from these counties, it included these counties and their populations in its

service area. It is simply not reasonable to expect to draw patients from these counties, when the existing practice has so little presence in the area. The residents of these counties would need to travel to Beckley and presumably pass existing providers to receive treatment from FMI.

Third, the service area proposed by FMI is three times larger than that of RGH, an acute care hospital. This fact, alone, demonstrates the unreasonableness of the proposed six county service area. RGH offers more services than FMI and thus would reasonably have a larger, not smaller, service area than FMI. In making this comparison, the Authority is not holding FMI to a 25/10 service area, as has been repeatedly contended by FMI, but rather is pointing out the glaring deficiencies in FMI's proposed service area.

After reviewing the application and the hearing testimony, the Authority found no reasonable justification for such a large service area. Therefore, it turned to an examination of type of service being proposed to determine if the proposed service is considered specialized care which generally necessitates a larger service area. Typically, specialized care services, such as open heart surgery, angioplasty and long term acute care, are considered specialized services because these services are available at a limited number of locations throughout the state. Since these services are only offered at a limited number of locations, patients are forced to travel great distances to receive treatment and this increases the size of the service area.

In the instant case, the ultrasound services cannot be considered specialized. These services are currently available by at least 24 other providers in the service area

alone, unlike open heart which is only offered by six providers in the state. Therefore, there is no reason for people to travel to receive these services. Accordingly, FMI's service area could not be justified based upon the type of the services being offered.

Contrary to the Appellants' assertion that there is no case law to support the Authority's service area analysis, the Authority has previously considered this issue. In Raleigh General Hospital v. West Virginia Health Care Cost Review Authority, Civil App. No. 97-AP-09-B, *affirming*, Raleigh General Hospital, App. Docket # 95-HC-14, *affirming*, Raleigh General Hospital, CON File # 92-1-3872-H (denying a CON to develop open heart surgery services and holding that the applicant, RGH, failed to provide a reasonable justification for the inclusion of a secondary service area when a statistically insignificant number of patients from the secondary service area utilized the current cardiac catheterization services offered by the applicant), the Tenth Judicial Circuit affirmed the Authority's Decision to disallow RGH's use of a secondary study area. The Circuit Court stated that use of RGH's existing cardiac catheterization services by "patients in the proposed secondary service area is insignificant and HCCRA's [now known as the Authority] conclusion that this is a valid indicator of the probable use of the proposed open heart unit is sound."

In both the above referenced case and in the instant case, the Authority conducted the same analysis of the facts. In the Raleigh case, the applicant tried to justify using a larger service area than set forth in the State Health Plan. In evaluating this secondary service area, the Authority considered the number of patients currently using the applicant's cardiac services from the secondary service area and determined

that use in the secondary service area of existing cardiac catheterization services currently offered by the applicant was so insignificant, that inclusion of the additional counties was not reasonable or justifiable. Thus, since patients from the secondary service area were not currently utilizing the applicant's service, it is unreasonable to assume that approval of the project will change this treatment pattern.

In the instant case, the Authority evaluated the evidence and, like the Raleigh case, determined that Dr. Poling and Dr. Lostetter are treating a statistically insignificant number of patients in McDowell and Nicholas Counties to justify the inclusion of these counties in FMI's service area. At this point, it is important to note, that the application submitted by FMI is much weaker than that previously considered in the Raleigh case. In the present case, FMI failed to submit any data whatsoever indicating the number of patients currently served by its family practice in any county in the proposed service area, including McDowell and Nicholas Counties. In fact, FMI objected in discovery to the production of such information as irrelevant.

Finally, once FMI's proposed service area was determined to be overstated, the need methodology was likewise flawed and overstated, as were the financial projections. Since FMI could not establish need or consistency with the State Health Plan, no further analysis of the case needed to take place. It is, however, important to note that there were other flaws in the application which may, if considered, have warranted denial of the CON.

For example, FMI made several assumptions, in its application, which allowed it to project an unmet need in the service area. It assumed both that the lesser number of

ultrasound scans would be performed per day and that the existing ultrasound machines would be operated at 50% of its actual capacity on an annual basis. These assumptions are contrary to information contained in FMI's own application which indicates that the population of the service area is older, as compared to national benchmarks, and thus would reasonably use more diagnostic procedures than the average population. If more diagnostic procedures were required, then it is reasonable to assume that equipment would be used more than half the time and that more than 6 scans per day would be performed.

Additionally, FMI failed to provide for the provision of indigent care. The Authority is required to consider this fact in evaluating a CON application pursuant to W.Va. Code § 16-2D-6(22)(C). Further, the Authority is required to consider the impact that this project will have on existing providers. W.Va. Code § 16-2D-6(6). The fact that FMI failed to establish that it would treat the indigent also impacts existing providers. RGH argued throughout this process that the proposed project would have a negative impact on its facility. For example, if FMI treats only paying clients then those persons without the means to pay for services will either not receive treatment at all or receive treatment for free or at a reduced cost at RGH. This project has the potential to change the payor mix at the hospital by draining paying patients and, thus, poses the potential to both increase the costs of services at RGH and to force RGH to discontinue services that it provides at a loss to offset for the indigent care provided. However, since FMI failed the initial step of justifying its service area, a consideration of these factors was unnecessary.

**B. Family Medical Imaging's assertion that the Authority failed to consider and evaluate the need for the proposed service, based upon the undisputed service area and available equipment, is fundamentally flawed since such a calculation cannot be accurately performed.**

Essentially, FMI argues that the Authority should have taken the two disputed counties, Nicholas and McDowell, out of the calculations and performed the analysis based upon a four county service area. First, the Authority is without power to reform a duly submitted application and substitute a new need methodology for the applicant. See, W.Va. Code 16-2D-9(c). Rather, the Authority simply approves or denies the application as submitted. Second, even if the Authority elected to do so, there is insufficient information in the application to allow it to determine how many ultrasound machines are located in this reduced service area. For example, FMI stated that there are 24 ultrasound machines located in the proposed six county service area, but does not break this number down by location. CON Application, p. 25. Therefore, it is impossible for the Authority to determine how many of these machines are located in the reduced four county service area. This is a fundamental step in the need methodology calculation and since FMI failed to address the location of the existing providers, it is impossible to conduct this calculation accurately. Accordingly, after the size of the service area is reduced, there is inadequate information to support approval of the application.

FMI then argues that although its application did not contain sufficient information to subtract out the existing providers in Nicholas and Summers Counties, there was

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